FILED
02-19-2025
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case Nos. 2024AP001923-CR, 2024AP001924-CR,
2024AP001925-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MAX E. BELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from Judgments of Conviction Entered
in Dane County Circuit Court, the Honorable
Josann M. Reynolds, Presiding

BRIEF OF
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

DAVID J. SUSENS
Assistant State Public Defender
State Bar No. 1099463

Office of the State Public Defender
Post Office Box 7862
Madison, WI 53707-7862
(608) 267-2124
susensd@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Max E. Bell

ISSUE PRESENTED

During 2019 and 2020 the state charged Max E. Bell in three separate criminal cases. In the criminal complaints of those cases, Mr. Bell was accused of crimes in three separate complainants that were alleged to have involved separate witnesses and to have occurred over a period of more than 29 months. .

Did the circuit court err by joining the cases for trial?

Over Mr. Bell's objection, the circuit court joined the cases for trial after finding that the charges were sufficiently related and that joinder would not unduly prejudice Mr. Bell.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Bell does not request oral argument or publication. The parties can address the issues in full in the briefs and this Court can resolve those issues by applying established legal principles to these facts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 25, 2022, the Dane County circuit court convened a single panel of jurors for trial in three

separate criminal cases against Max Bell. (R.167:5).¹ The court instructed the jurors that there were seven counts against Mr. Bell in three separate cases—Dane County Case Nos. 19CF1525, 20CF2585, and 20CF2958. (R.167:7-10; R.64:1-6; App. 27-32). Three days later, the empaneled jurors returned guilty verdicts on all seven counts charged in those three cases. (R.63:1-2, 2020CF2585-R:64:1-3, 2020CF2958-R:48:1-2).

About six months before the trial—following the state’s motion for joinder and an oral ruling, the circuit court issued a written order joining those three cases and a fourth case that was ultimately dismissed before trial—Dane County Case No. 20CF767—for a single trial. (R.30:1-18, R.39:1, R.158:11-14; App. 13-16, 20).

Starting on July 3, 2019, the state charged Mr. Bell with strangulation and suffocation and solicitation/pandering in 19CF1525. The charges were based on an incident occurring on February 14, 2018. (R.1:1). According to the complaint, a “potential client” responded to an advertisement on backpage.com posted by AMT who “admitted to being a prostitute.” (R.1:2). The phone number used to correspond with AMT ended in 3383 and was connected to Mr. Bell. (R.1:2).

The complaint alleged that AMT arrived at 102 Paoli Street in Verona before Mr. Bell escorted her

¹ Unless otherwise identified by case number, citations to the record refer to the document number in Dane County Case No. 19CF1525.

to the basement of another building at 100 Paoli Street. (R.1:2). AMT told police that Mr. Bell placed his arm around her neck and she had difficulty breathing. (R.1:2). AMT was able to speak to Mr. Bell and he eventually lightened the pressure before they engaged in finger to vagina intercourse and penis to vagina intercourse while she was face down on a mattress. (R.1:2-3). AMT told police that at some point, Mr. Bell penetrated her anus and she told him “it hurts.” (R.1:2-3). After Mr. Bell ejaculated, he stood up and AMT ultimately left. (R.1:3). AMT explained that she was meeting Mr. Bell for sex but “did not agree for it to go down the way it did.” (R.1:3).

On November 20, 2020, the state charged Mr. Bell with substantial battery and felony bail jumping in 20CF2958. (20CF2958-R.2:1-2). On September 17, 2019, according to the complaint, ARM arranged to meet with a person named “Justin” through an advertisement on the “Skip the Games website.” (20CF2958-R.2:4). The complaint alleged that “Justin” and ARM agreed to meet outside a residence in Madison. (20CF2958-R.2:2). ARM told police that after she was dropped off by friends, she followed Justin’s instructions to walk between two houses on the south side of the street when she was struck in the head repeatedly by “a white male in his mid-20’s to early 30’s, with short dark hair, approximately 6’1” in height and with no facial hair.” (20CF2958-R.2:2). ARM sustained lacerations to her head that required several stitches. (20CF2958-R.2:3). ARM later told police that she identified Mr. Bell as the person who struck her in the head on October 26,

2020, when she saw a story about Mr. Bell covered on Madison.com. (20CF2958-R.2:4).

On October 13, 2020, the state charged Mr. Bell with second degree sexual assault and two counts of felony bail jumping in 20CF2585. (20CF2585-R.2:1). According to the complaint, on July 15, 2020, KLE agreed to have “consensual” sexual contact with a man who responded to her website advertisement from a “text now number” ending in 4339. (20CF2585-R.2:2-3). KLE did not know the man’s name but she agreed to meet with him on Toribrooke Lane in Madison. (20CF2585-R.2:3). According to KLE, she performed oral sex on the man and they engaged in penis to vagina sexual intercourse in a silver sedan while her friend stayed nearby in the car KLE arrived in. (20CF2585-R.2:3).

The complaint alleged that the man asked “if he could get a little rough” and KLE agreed. (20CF2585-R.2:3). Eventually, when the man could not “climax” KLE told him to “get the fuck off me” and attempted to push him away. (20CF2585-R.2:3). KLE told police that the man then held her down and engaged in anal intercourse—to which she did not consent—for around 3 minutes. (20CF2585-R.2:3-4). The next day, KLE went to Meriter Hospital for a SANE exam and returned to Toribrooke Lane to find the man’s vehicle. (20CF2585-R.2:3). KLE described the man “as being 30’s to early 40s, 170 pounds, with an average build.” (20CF2585-R.2:4). Mr. Bell was eventually identified as the source of DNA located from a swab of KLE’s

underwear and a hair found in KLE's underwear. (20CF2585-R.2:5).

When issuing its decision to join the cases, the circuit court explained that the charges were all "closely related in terms of the disclosures" and that "four years with this much similarity in the actual allegations is a long period of time for crimes of this magnitude." (R.158:12; App. 14). The court also found that "the victims are very similarly situated" and "start with some type of consensual sexual contact." (R.158:12; App. 14). According to the court, the cases "all have a similar scheme, plan" which is "relevant to show there is some motive and intent." (R.158:12; App. 14). The court found that "they all involve anal rape" that was forced, violent, aggressive, and caused injuries. (R.158:13; App. 15).

While the court acknowledged that the defense's "best argument" was about unfair prejudice, the court dismissed any concerns about prejudice by finding that Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2)(b), "the greater latitude" rule, means that if the cases weren't joined, "we're going to be hearing about each case in each other case because of the similarities and the conduct at issue and the greater latitude that is now part of the law as of 2014." (R.158:6; App. 8). Ultimately the court concluded that joinder was appropriate and without joinder "we would be hearing the same facts repeatedly in the other cases." (R.158:13; App. 15).

After dismissing 20CF767, the state moved forward with a trial on the three remaining cases. The state called separate witnesses—including separate investigating officers, separate medical witnesses, and separate DNA analysts—during the singular trial.

The state first presented its evidence in 19CF1525. On top of testimony largely consistent with information presented in the criminal complaints, trial testimony showed that AMT did not suffer any apparent injuries to her neck despite alleging that Mr. Bell strangled her to the point of “crushing” her neck. (R.167:176, 180-81). The DNA analyst testified that Mr. Bell’s DNA was not found on AMT’s “choker” and it was possible that Mr. Bell’s DNA was transferred from AMT’s skirt to the collar of her shirt when it was placed in the same bag. (R.165:69-73). According to testimony, Mr. Bell admitted to having sex with AMT but denied strangling and suffocating her. (R.165:16-17, 26).

In 20CF2585—in addition to testimony that tracked the facts from the criminal complaint—the evidence showed that there was no physical evidence supporting KLE’s claim that she suffered any anal injuries. (R.165:150-51). The DNA evidence also showed that semen was found on swabs taken from KLE’s anus and vagina that did not belong to Mr. Bell. (R.164:23). Thus, even if KLE was injured, the injury may have resulted from anal sex with others on the same day the state claims Mr. Bell had sex with her. The evidence also established that KLE’s friend, JF, did not hear any screaming or struggle despite being

parked near the car when KLE claimed to be screaming. (R.149:49-64; 165:115-16). Finally, the evidence raised inferences about KLE's motive to falsely accusing Mr. Bell after figuring out that he had shorted her on the agreed upon fee for their consensual sex. (R.165:119-20).

Finally, in 20CF2958, alongside testimony about the facts contained in the criminal complaint, the testimony showed that there was no evidence—no blood, no DNA, and no witnesses—to corroborate ARM's identification of Mr. Bell as her assailant. In fact, testimony showed that ARM's assailant used the name "Justin," invited her to an address that did not belong to Mr. Bell, claimed to have children, and used a telephone number that was never connected to Mr. Bell. (R.164:93-96).

After the close of evidence and closing arguments, the court instructed the jury on the elements of each count and cautioned the jurors that if they found Mr. Bell guilty in one case, they "may not use this finding to draw the conclusion that [he] has a certain character or character trait and that he acted in conformity with that trait or character in other cases." (R.64:8-9; App. 34-35). The court instructed the jury that it could only consider Mr. Bell's conduct in one case "on the issues motive, opportunity, intent, and plan." (R.64:9; App. 35). The court instructed the jury to "consider the evidence as to each case, and each count separately" and that "[y]our verdict in one case must not affect your verdict in the other case." (R.64:9; App. 35).

Mr. Bell was found guilty on all seven counts in the three cases. (R.63:1-4; 20CF2585-R.64:1-6; 20CF2958-R48:1-4). Mr. Bell was sentenced to prison on each count. (R.166:37-38). Mr. Bell now appeals.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred by joining three cases for trial cases that allegedly occurred over the course of 29 months, alleged different crimes, involved separate witnesses, and had no overlapping evidence.

The state charged Mr. Bell in four separate cases that alleged four separate criminal episodes, involved four separate sets of witnesses, and occurred over the course of four years. Under these circumstances, this Court's review of the circuit court's decision to join charges is a two-step process. *State v. Locke*, 177 Wis. 2d 590, 597, 502 N.W.2d 891, 894 (Ct. App. 1993).

First, the initial joinder decision is based on an application of the alleged facts to the statutory requirements of Wis. Stat. § 971.12(1) and (4). *State v. Hoffman*, 106 Wis. 2d 185, 208, 316 N.W.2d 143 (Ct. App. 1982). A claim of misjoinder is a legal determination that this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Salinas*, 2016 WI 44, ¶30, 369 Wis. 2d 9, 879 N.W.2d 609.

Next, even if the cases are properly joined, this Court must engage in the “analytically distinct” task of determining whether the cases should be severed under Wis. Stat. § 971.12(3). *Hoffman*, 106 Wis. 2d at 208. It is the circuit court’s task to weigh potential prejudice to the defendant against the interest of the public in joinder and exercise its discretion to sever otherwise properly joined charges. *Id.* at 209. Appellate courts review severance decisions to determine if the circuit court abused its discretion. *Id.*

Here the circuit court erred in its initial decision to join the charges by conflating the standards for joinder and severance and by relying on factual errors to justify joinder. Additionally, the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion by denying severance based on a finding that Mr. Bell would not be substantially prejudiced by joinder. Based on either error or both errors, this Court should reverse and remand with an order to sever the charges and try Mr. Bell separately on each of the three remaining cases.

- A. The circuit court erred by incorporating the standard for severance in the decision to join the cases.

Before ever engaging in the question of whether the charges met the statutory standard for joinder under Wis. Stat. § 971.12(1), the circuit court focused its attention on the question of whether the “greater latitude” rule in Wis. Stat § 904.04(2)(b) was “overriding” the argument that Mr. Bell would be

unfairly prejudiced by joinder. (R.158:6; App. 8). As the court explained, “it seems to me that if I didn’t join these, we’re going to be hearing about each case in each other case because of the similarities and the conduct at issue and the greater latitude that is now part of the law as of 2014.” (R.158:6; App. 8).

As discussed above, the questions of misjoinder and severance are distinct. While an “other acts” analysis may be one factor in assessing the risk of prejudice under the severance standard, it is irrelevant to distinct standard for initial joinder. *Locke*, 177 Wis. 2d at 597. Yet, in joining the charges, the circuit court explained that evidence in each case is “relevant to show there is some motive and opportunity and intent” that “would be admissible in the other.” (R.158:12; App. 14). In other words, the circuit court erred by conflating the tests for joinder and severance and basing its joinder decision on whether the evidence passes the “other acts” test under Wis. Stat. § 904.04.

The test for joinder is not whether evidence in one case is relevant to show motive, opportunity, and intent in another case. Rather, the test—based on the plain statutory language—is whether the joined crimes: (1) are of the “same or similar character;” (2) are based on the “same act or transaction;” (3) constitute “2 or more acts or transactions connected together;” or (4) constitute “parts of a common scheme or plan.” Wis. Stat. § 971.12(1).

In other words, even if the court was correct in concluding that some evidence in “each would be admissible in the other,” that conclusion is not sufficient to justify joinder under Wis. Stat. § 971.12(1). Thus, the circuit court erred by failing to determine whether the cases were properly joined in the first place. Because the cases involve separate crimes, separate alleged victims, separate witnesses, and occurred over a 29 month period, this Court should find that the cases were misjoined and reverse.

- B. The charged crimes were not “of the same or similar character,” were not “connected together,” and were not part of a “common scheme or plan.”

While the circuit court determined that the crimes were “closely related,” the court never grappled with the legal standard for whether the crimes were “of the same or similar character” or “connected together.” (R.158:11; App. 13). Crimes are of the same or similar character when they involve the “same type of offenses, occurring over a relatively short period of time, *and* the evidence as to *each count* overlaps.” *State v. Watkins*, 2021 WI App 37, ¶24, 398 Wis. 2d 558, 961 N.W.2d 884. (emphasis added).

Here there is no basis to conclude that the charged crimes were “based on the same act or transaction.” Thus, to determine whether crimes are “connected together” or part of a “common scheme or plan,” this Court looks to several factors:

(1) are the charges closely related; (2) are there common factors of substantial importance; (3) did one charge arise out of the investigation of the other; (4) are the crimes close in time or close in location, or do the crimes involve the same victims; (5) are the crimes similar in manner, scheme, or plan; (6) was one crime committed to prevent punishment for another; and (7) would joinder serve the goals and purposes of § 971.12.

Id., ¶24; *Salinas*, 369 Wis. 2d 9, ¶43.

Unlike in *Hoffman*, where this Court held that first degree murders occurring 3 months apart were “of the same or similar character,” the crimes charged here were distinct and relatively distant in time. *Hoffman*, 106 Wis. 2d at 209. And unlike in *Watkins* where this Court held that the crimes were “connected together” by 2016 murder-for-hire and witness intimidation schemes aimed to prevent testimony about 2015 sexual assaults, the crimes charged here did not arise out of the other, were not committed to escape punishment, did not involve the same victims or witnesses, and were not connected together by any common scheme or plan. *Watkins*, 398 Wis. 2d 558, ¶¶26-35.

1. The charges were dissimilar and occurred over a lengthy period of time.

In 19CF1525, Mr. Bell was charged with strangulation and suffocation and soliciting prostitution based on events allegedly occurring in his basement on Paoli Street in Verona on February 14,

2018. (R.1:1-3). In 20CF2958, Mr. Bell was charged with substantial battery and bail jumping based on events occurring between two homes on Toribrooke Lane on September 17, 2019. (20CF2958-R.5:1-5). In 20CF2585, Mr. Bell was charged with second degree sexual assault and bail jumping based on events allegedly occurring in a car parked on Toribrooke Lane in Madison on July 15, 2020. (2020CF2585-R.2:1-6).

To show that crimes are the same or similar character, “it is not sufficient that the offenses involve merely the same type of criminal charge.” *State v. Hamm*, 146 Wis. 2d 130, 138, 430 N.W.2d 584 (Ct. App. 1988). Unlike the charges in *Hamm*, which occurred 15 to 18 months apart, the charges here occurred more than 29 months apart. *Id.* at 138-39 (R.30:1-4). The factual distinctions between the three cases and the lack of overlapping evidence mean that the 29-month span between the offenses was not a “relatively short period of time.” *Id.* at 140.

2. The charges involve distinct alleged victims and witnesses and there is no overlapping evidence or common scheme.

Unlike in *Hoffman* and *Watkins*, where the crimes were connected by conspiracies to suppress witness testimony and avoid punishment, there is no similar common scheme here. Here there is no allegation that the crimes were committed to suppress witness testimony or avoid punishment. The crimes

here were alleged to have occurred across a longer period of time, involved different sets of witnesses, and alleged victims that were—at most—tangentially related through their sex work. (R.30:1-4).

Unlike 20CF2585, neither 19CF1525 nor 20CF2958 charge Mr. Bell with sexual assault. (R.30:1-4). And while all three alleged victims acknowledged that they were sex workers, 20CF2958 involves no sexual conduct or exchange of money at all. (R.30:1-4). Thus, contrary to the circuit court's conclusion, the three offenses do not all “start with some type of consensual sexual contact” and do not “all involve an anal rape.” (R.158:12-13; App. 14-15).

There are also no overlapping witnesses or common facts that were vital to meet the elements of the disparate charges in the three cases. Thus, the circuit court also erred by concluding that separate juries “would be hearing the same facts repeatedly in the other cases.” (R.158:13; App. 15). Even the circuit court's reliance on ARM's identification of Mr. Bell from the press release in 20CF2585 as a basis for joinder also misses the mark. (R.158:12; App. 14). How ARM identified Mr. Bell does nothing to connect the underlying facts of those otherwise dissimilar cases to each other and does nothing to connect those two cases to 19CF1525.

Likewise, because bail jumping does not require any evidence about the facts of the underlying cases that placed Mr. Bell on bond, the bail jumping charges do not connect the cases in any way that is meaningful

to the initial joinder decision. At any rate, the parties entered stipulations that Mr. Bell was released from custody on bond and the jury was instructed that they must find Mr. Bell guilty of the substantive charge in each case before finding him guilty of bail jumping. (R.64:5-6; App. 31-32).

Because the offenses were distinct, the evidence did not overlap, the individual offenses were not part of an ongoing plan or scheme, and the offenses were alleged to have occurred over a relatively lengthy time period, the cases could not—as a matter of law—be joined under any theory for joinder under Wis. Stat. § 971.12(1). The burden is thus on the state to prove that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Leach*, 124 Wis. 2d 648, 671, 370 N.W.2d 240, 253 (1985).

C. The circuit court erred by ordering the cases joined despite a significant risk of prejudice to Mr. Bell.

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