**FILED**  
**05-05-2025**  
**CLERK OF WISCONSIN**  
**COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DISTRICT IV

---

Case Nos. 2024AP1923-CR, 2024AP1924-CR  
& 2024AP1925-CR

---

STATE OF WISCONSIN,  
Plaintiff-Respondent,  
v.  
MAX E. BELL,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION  
ENTERED IN DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE  
HONORABLE JOSANN M. REYNOLDS, PRESIDING

---

**RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

---

JOSHUA L. KAUL  
Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY  
Assistant Attorney General  
State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice  
Post Office Box 7857

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

**1. All three cases involved Bell soliciting sex workers, getting them alone, and then violently physically and/or sexually assaulting them.**

In case number 2019CF1525, Bell solicited AMT, a prostitute, on February 14, 2018, in Verona, gave her cash, and then began strangling her. (R1. 1:2.) While still holding her neck and throat, he forced anal sex with her. (R1. 1:3.) AMT told police that while she agreed to have intercourse with Bell, she did not consent to have him strangle her and she told him to stop when he forced intercourse with her. (R1. 1:2–3.) Bell was charged with strangulation and suffocation as a repeater and pandering – solicitation, as a repeater. (R1. 1:1.)

In case number 2020CF2585, while he was out on bail in the case involving AMT and in the fourth, later-dismissed, case, Bell contacted KLE through an adult web site and met her at an address in Madison on July 15, 2020. (R2. 2:2–3.) KLE initially engaged in consensual oral and vaginal intercourse with Bell in his car. (R2. 2:3.) As the encounter

went on, KLE asked to end the intercourse, but Bell used his body weight against her, pulled her arms behind her back, pushed her head between her legs, and forced anal sex with her. (R2. 2:3.) KLE stated that she made clear in her ad that she was not willing to have anal sex, that she screamed, and that she told Bell to stop. (R2. 2:3.) Bell was charged with second-degree sexual assault as a repeater and two counts of felony bail jumping, based on his bond status in the case involving AMT and in the fourth, later-dismissed, case. (R2. 2:1–2.)

In case number 2020CF2958, also while he was out on bail in the case involving AMT and in the fourth, later-dismissed, case, Bell contacted ARM through an ad on a website called “Skip the Games.” (R3. 2:4.) After they agreed on payment, ARM met Bell (who identified himself as “Justin”) at an address in Madison on September 17, 2019. (R3. 2:2, 4.) After the two briefly introduced themselves outside the residence, Bell directed ARM to walk to the back of the home to access “his room.” (R3. 2:3.) Bell then attacked ARM from behind, knocking her down and punching her multiple times in the back of her head, causing significant injuries. (R3. 2:3.) ARM “screamed as loud as she could” during the attack and “this appeared to scare ‘Justin’ off.” (R3. 2:3.) In October 2020, ARM contacted police after seeing a news story about Bell’s assaults of other women and recognizing Bell as her attacker. (R3. 2:4–5.) Bell was charged with substantial battery as a repeater, and felony bail jumping as a repeater; the latter was based on Bell’s bond status in the case involving AMT. (R3. 2:1–2.)

## **2. The crimes were of “the same or similar character.”**

“For separate crimes to be ‘of the same or similar character,’ the crimes must be ‘the same type of offenses occurring over a relatively short period of time and the

evidence as to each must overlap.” *State v. Watkins*, 2021 WI App 37, ¶ 24, 398 Wis. 2d 558, 961 N.W.2d 884 (citing *State v. Linton*, 2010 WI App 129, ¶ 14, 329 Wis. 2d 687, 791 N.W.2d 222). Whether a time period is “relatively short” depends on the similarity between the offenses and the overlap in evidence; the more similarity and overlap between the offenses, the longer the time period can be to remain sufficiently short. *See State v. Hamm*, 146 Wis. 2d 130, 140, 430 N.W.2d 584 (Ct. App. 1988) (holding that a 15- to 18-month period was “relatively short” because the home-invasion sexual-assault crimes were similar and had substantial overlap).

Here, the 29-month period of Bell’s crimes was relatively short because his crimes all bore significant similarities and overlapped in substantial ways. All involved Bell contacting a female sex worker and arranging to pay for sexual contact or intercourse. All involved an initially consensual encounter that turned violent and nonconsensual. Two crimes involved forced anal sex while the other involved a significant physical assault. Importantly, all involved Bell targeting victims who were engaging in illegal activity themselves; therefore, they were seemingly less likely to report assaults. Based on that fact and the nature of sexual assaults, a two-and-a-half-year period of time is not significantly long.

Moreover, the crimes overlap not only based on Bell’s similar modus operandi, but also because Bell was on bond for the first case when he committed the second two assaults, resulting in felony bail jumping charges. Finally, AMT, the victim in the third case identified Bell as her attacker after seeing his mug shot publicized following his arrest in the second case involving KLE. Accordingly, evidence probative of her identification of Bell as her assailant overlapped between her and KLE’s case.

### 3. The crimes were also “connected together.”

In considering whether crimes are “connected together,” this Court considers multiple factors,

including but not limited to: (1) are the charges closely related; (2) are there common factors of substantial importance; (3) did one charge arise out of the investigation of the other; (4) are the crimes close in time or close in location, or do the crimes involve the same victims; (5) are the crimes similar in manner, scheme or plan; (6) was one crime committed to prevent punishment for another; and (7) would joinder serve the goals and purposes of § 971.12.

*Watkins*, 398 Wis. 2d 558, ¶ 23 (quoting *Salinas*, 369 Wis. 2d 9, ¶ 43).

Several of those factors support joinder under this scenario. The second factor is present because there were common facts of substantial importance (i.e., the similarities in Bell’s modus operandi between the crimes and the similarities between the sex-worker victims). Under the third factor, the charges involving ARM arose after ARM identified Bell when learning of the investigation of his crimes against KLE, and the felony bail jumping counts in the cases involving KLE and ARM arose from the case involving AMT. Under the fifth factor, the crimes were similar in manner, scheme, or plan: all involved Bell arranging to meet with a sex worker, getting her alone, and becoming physically violent (i.e., beating ARM and strangling AMT) or sexually violent (i.e., forcing nonconsensual anal sex with KLE and AMT). And finally, under the seventh factor, the trial court found that joinder served the goals and purposes of the statute, because the facts were admissible in separate trials, which would hamper judicial economy, harm the victims and witnesses, and waste resources. (R1. 158:13.)

Bell argues that the cases are not “connected together” because they were unlike first-degree murders that occurred

three months apart in *Hoffman*, 106 Wis. 2d at 209, or like the murder-for-hire and witness-intimidation schemes in *Watkins*, 398 Wis. 2d 558. (Bell’s Br. 17.) *Hoffman* and *Watkins* are not the only cases or guideposts for applying the connected-together factors. To the contrary, in *Francis*, the connected-together factors were satisfied based on two incidents involving different victims in which the defendant exhibited the same modus operandi (carjacking a woman with the intent to sexually assault her) and thus a common scheme or plan that tended to establish Francis’s identity as the perpetrator. *Francis*, 86 Wis. 2d at 560–61.

**4. The crimes were also properly joined under the “common plan or scheme” scenario.**

Taken together, the crimes most clearly satisfy the “common scheme or plan” scenario making joinder proper. Between February 2018 and July 2020, Bell three times solicited women to pay them for sex. In all three instances, Bell exhibited the same modus operandi: he exploited a consensual transaction and turned it into a violent, nonconsensual one, by forcing physical and sexual assaults. All of the acts occurred in the same general geographic area (Madison or Verona), they occurred within a 29-month period, and Bell was the same perpetrator and targeted similarly situated victims. Notably, in the latter two cases, the felony bail jumping counts were based on Bell’s bond status for assaulting AMT. Accordingly, his arrest and custody in case number 2019CF1525 would have been admissible to prove felony bail jumping in the trials of the latter two cases had Bell not stipulated to being on bail for felony charges.

**D. Bell’s arguments are unpersuasive.**

Bell argues that the dissimilarity in the charges and the 29-month time period fails to satisfy the connected-together and common-plan-or-scheme standards. (Bell’s Br. 17–18.) As

argued above, however, that Bell's similar modus operandi resulted in distinct charges does not create meaningful dissimilarity.

Further, simply because some other cases involved shorter periods of time does not mean that a 29-month period is not "relatively short." What constitutes a relatively short period of time is case-dependent; in cases involving multiple similar sexual assaults of distinct victims, periods of 18 months and two years were "relatively short" under the circumstances. *See, e.g., Salinas*, 369 Wis. 2d 9, ¶ 38 (holding that sexual assaults spanning two-and-a-half years followed by four months of calls supporting witness intimidation charges occurred close in time); *State v. Locke*, 177 Wis. 2d 590, 596, 502 N.W.2d 891 (Ct. App. 1993) (two years between distinct sexual assaults); *Hamm*, 146 Wis. 2d at 140 (18 months between distinct burglaries and sexual assaults).<sup>2</sup> As the trial court correctly observed here, given "this much similarity in the actual allegations," the 29-month period between Bell's first and his last assault was not "a long period of time for crimes of this magnitude." (R1. 158:12.)

Bell also asserts that these cases involved different victims and charges and that there was no overlap between the cases. (Bell's Br. 18–19.) Thus, he concludes, this case is unlike two handpicked cases (*Hoffman* and *Watkins*) where the joinder involved inherently related initial charges and conspiracies to suppress witness testimony. (Bell's Br. 17–18.) He discounts the value in explaining to the jury how ARM identified Bell as her assailant and argues that the

---

<sup>2</sup> *See also State v. Saunders*, No. 2013AP1229-CR, 2013 WL 5911458, ¶ 26 (Wis. Ct. App. Nov. 5, 2013) (unpublished) (R-App. 17–18) (holding that two-and-a-half-year period was "relatively short" where joined cases involved "very similar" allegations of defendant's sexual assaults of gynecological patients).

underlying facts of the other counts were not necessary to prove the bail jumping charges. (Bell's Br. 18–19.)

Bell's focus on *Hoffman* and *Watkins* is misleading. Those cases involved the joining of charges of an initial crime with illegal efforts to avoid punishment for that crime. But that is just one of many circumstances in which Wisconsin appellate courts have upheld joinder. Tellingly, Bell ignores the many cases in which Wisconsin courts upheld joinder of distinct crimes that involved a similar *modus operandi* by one defendant against different victims. *See, e.g., Locke*, 177 Wis. 2d at 596; *Hamm*, 146 Wis. 2d at 140; *Francis*, 86 Wis. 2d at 560; *State v. Kramer*, 45 Wis. 2d 20, 36, 171 N.W.2d 919 (1969); *see also State v. Saunders*, No. 2013AP1229-CR, 2013 WL 5911458, ¶ 24 (Wis. Ct. App. Nov. 5, 2013) (unpublished); (R-App. 17).

Further, Bell disingenuously dismisses the overlap between how ARM identified him and the crimes underlying the felony bail jumping charges. Bell's primary defense to ARM's allegations was that the State failed to prove his identity as her attacker. (R1. 164:200–04.) Further, the bail jumping charges required the jury to find that Bell was on bond on felony charges when he committed two of the crimes. Even though the parties ultimately stipulated to his felony bond status, the State nevertheless maintained its burden to prove those facts. And the facts that Bell was on bond for similar crimes when he committed new ones reflects a clear overlap bearing on his identity as the assailant in all three cases.

In sum, the circuit court correctly joined the cases here under any of the three statutory scenarios. Bell fails to identify any precedent or advance arguments necessitating reversal.

**II. Even if this Court considers severance, Bell cannot show substantial prejudice.**

Even though Bell never moved the circuit court to sever the cases and has, as a result, failed to preserve the question for appeal, this Court may alternatively hold that any exercise of discretion by the circuit court in declining to sever the cases is well-supported in the record.

**A. There is no basis for this Court to grant postconviction severance of the cases.**

A circuit court's decision on severance is discretionary. *See Salinas*, 369 Wis. 2d 9, ¶ 30 (citing *Locke*, 177 Wis. 2d at 596–97). To succeed on a severance request, a defendant must show more than some prejudice resulting from the joinder. *State v. Linton*, 2010 WI App 129, ¶ 21, 329 Wis. 2d 687, 791 N.W.2d 222 (citation omitted). That “more than some” standard is required because “[a]ny joinder of offenses is apt to involve some element of prejudice to the defendant.” *Id.* Hence, a defendant must show “a higher degree of prejudice, or certainty of prejudice” to warrant severance of charges or other relief. *Id.* Further, “when evidence of the counts sought to be severed is admissible [as other-acts evidence] in separate trials, ‘the risk of prejudice arising due to a joinder of offenses is generally not significant.’” *State v. Hall*, 103 Wis. 2d 125, 141, 307 N.W.2d 289 (1981) (citation omitted).

Other-acts evidence is admissible if it is offered for a permissible purpose under Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2), if it is relevant, and if its probative value is not substantially outweighed “by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” *State v. Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 772, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998). Additionally, the case involving KLE alleged sexual assault; courts have “greater latitude” in admitting other acts in sexual assault cases, meaning that

admission in those cases is facilitated and favored. Wis. Stat. § 904.04(3)(b)1.; *State v. Dorsey*, 2018 WI 10, ¶ 33, 379 Wis. 2d 386, 906 N.W.2d 158.

Here, the trial court soundly determined that the crimes would be admissible other-acts if the cases were tried separately. As for the first *Sullivan* prong, the other crimes would support multiple permissible purposes, including motive and intent, identity, absence of mistake or accident, and plan and mode of operation. As for the second prong, the other acts are relevant to those purposes and, as discussed above, share multiple similarities showing Bell's motive, plan, intent, identity, and absence of mistake in targeting these victims and turning a consensual encounter into a violent, nonconsensual attack.

Finally, as for the third prong, in each case, Bell was being tried for a violent attack on a female sex worker. None of the facts from the other crimes would unfairly prejudice Bell any more than the facts each jury would be considering in an individual case. In addition, the trial court provided a curative instruction that minimized potential prejudice from the three cases being tried together. *Dorsey*, 379 Wis. 2d 386, ¶ 55 (noting that jurors presumably follow instructions and that cautionary instructions “can go ‘far to cure any adverse effect’” from other-acts evidence). Here, the trial court told the jury that the trial involved three different cases, and that it could not use a determination of guilt in one case to find guilt in another case. (R1. 164:151–52.) Rather, the court instructed the jurors to limit their consideration of the facts from the other offenses to issues of motive, opportunity, intent, and plan when it was determining the elements of any one offense. (R1. 164:151–53.)

**B. Alternatively, any error in the initial joinder decision was harmless.**

If a circuit court errs in granting a motion for joinder, the decision is subject to a harmless error analysis. *State v. Davis*, 2006 WI App 23, ¶ 21, 289 Wis. 2d 398, 710 N.W.2d 514. “Such a policy is acceptable and even desirable when harmlessness is demonstrated by overwhelming evidence of guilt or when the court is convinced for other reasons that ‘the error did not influence the jury or had but very slight effect.’” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Leach*, 124 Wis. 2d 648, 671–72, 370 N.W.2d 240 (1985)). To show that an error is harmless, the State must show that it is “clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error.” *State v. Nelson*, 2014 WI 70, ¶ 44, 355 Wis. 2d 722, 849 N.W.2d 317 (citation omitted).

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